ALASKA STATE LEGQ SLATURE
HOUSE COVMUNI TY AND REGQ ONAL AFFAI RS STANDI NG COW TTEE
March 21, 2017
8:03 a.m

VEMBERS PRESENT

Representati ve Zach Fansl er, Co-Chair
Representative Justin Parish, Co-Chair
Representative Harriet Drunmond
Represent ati ve Dean Westl ake

Represent ati ve George Rauscher
Representati ve Dan Saddl er
Representative David Tal erico

VEMBERS ABSENT

Represent ati ve DeLena Johnson (alternate)
Represent ati ve Jonat han Krei ss-Tonkins (alternate)

COW TTEE CALENDAR

HOUSE BI LL NO. 166
"An Act establishing a nmuseum construction grant program in the
Depart ment of Commrerce, Conmunity, and Econom c Devel opnent."

- HEARD & HELD
PREVI QUS COW TTEE ACTI ON
BILL: HB 166

SHORT TITLE: MJUSEUM CONSTRUCTI ON GRANT PROGRAM
SPONSOR('s): REPRESENTATI VE(s) PARI SH

03/ 08/ 17 (H) READ THE FI RST TIME - REFERRALS
03/ 08/ 17 (H) CRA, FIN
03/ 21/ 17 (H) CRA AT 8:00 AM CAP| TOL 106

W TNESS REG STER

LI SA WORL, Staff

Representative Justin Parish

Al aska State Legislature

Juneau, Al aska

PCSI TI ON STATEMENT:  Answer ed questions during the hearing on HB
166, on behal f of Representative Parish, prine sponsor.

HOUSE CRA COW TTEE -1- March 21, 2017



PATRI Cl A RELAY, Executive Director

Val dez Museum & Hi storical Archives

Val dez, Al aska

PCSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified in support of HB 166.

KATHERI NE ELDEMAR, Director

Di vision of Community and Regi onal Affairs (DCRA)

Departnment of Commerce, Conmunity & Econom c Devel opment ( DCCED)
Anchor age, Al aska

POSI TI ON STATEMENT:  Answered questions during the hearing on HB
166.

JANE LI NDSEY, Menber

Museuns Al aska;

Di rector

Juneau- Dougl as Gty Miuseum

Juneau, Al aska

PCSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified in support of HB 166.

EVA MALVI CH

Di rector/ Curat or

Yupiit Piciryarait Cultural Center

Bet hel , Al aska

POSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified in support of HB 166.

KATHERI NE WRI NGSMUTH
Eagl e River, Al aska
PCOSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified in support of HB 166.

LI NDA LUCKY, Vol unteer Docent

Anchor age Museum

Anchor age, Al aska

PCOSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified in support of HB 166.

STEPHEN LUNDEEN, Menber

Board of Directors

Pi oneer Air Museum

Fai r banks, Al aska

PCSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified during the hearing on HB 166.

PETE HAGGLAND, Cur at or

Pi oneer Air Miuseum

Fai r banks, Al aska

PCOSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified in support of HB 166.

JAMES LOUNSBURY
Koyukuk M ners Miuseum

HOUSE CRA COW TTEE - 2- March 21, 2017



PCOSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified during the hearing on HB 166.

LAURI E STUART MORROW Executive Director

Pratt Miseum

Homer, Al aska

PCOSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified in support of HB 166.

ACTI ON NARRATI VE

8:03:40 AM

CO CHAIR ZACH FANSLER called the House Conmmunity and Regional
Affairs Standing Conmittee neeting to order at 8:03 a.m
Representatives Saddler, Wstlake, Talerico, Rauscher, Parish,

and Fansler were present at the call to order. Representati ve
Drummond arrived as the neeting was in progress.

HB 166- MUSEUM CONSTRUCTI ON GRANT PROGRAM

[ Contains brief nention of SB 7.]
8:04: 42 AM

CO CHAI R FANSLER announced that the only order of business would
be HOUSE BILL NO 166, “"An Act establishing a nuseum
construction grant program in the Departnent of Conmerce,
Communi ty, and Econom c Devel opnent."

8:05: 27 AM
COCHAIR PARISH, as prime sponsor, presented HB 166. He

paraphrased the sponsor statement, which read as follows
[original punctuation provided]:

House Bill 166 establishes a matching grant programin
the Departrment of Conmerce, Conmmunity and Econonic
Devel opnent, for eligible museum  construction,

expansion or mgjor renovation projects. Miseuns are
eligible for this program if they are located in
Al aska, entitled to receive state grants, and provide
mat ching funds from other sources of at Ileast 50
percent of the project costs. Alaska has nore than 60
museuns throughout the state that provide cultural,
tourism and educational prograns. Alaska nmnmuseuns
recei ve 380,993 annual visitors and they serve 29, 469
school children each year. Alaskan conmunities are

HOUSE CRA COW TTEE - 3- March 21, 2017



enriched with the art, history, and cultural |anguage
and education provided at the nuseuns. The approval of
this bill wll enable nmuseuns to access and | everage
funding so that they nmay inprove, expand or upgrade as
needed, when funds are appropriated. Included with the
bill docunents you will find twenty three letters of
support from nine different Al askan nuseuns, four
r egi onal or statewide nuseuns organizations and
Senator Bishop. The award is subject to appropriation
and cannot exceed nore than 50 percent of the total
proposed project costs. HB 166 is a conpanion bill for
SB 7, Sponsors: STEVENS, Bishop, Stedman and Egan.

CO CHAIR PARI SH added, "This does not allocate noney; it only
creates a program to which, in happier days, we'll be able to
put sone noney for nuseuns which are able to find substanti al
al ternate sources of funding."

8:07:52 AM

REPRESENTATI VE SADDLER noted the co-sponsorship of HB 166 and
asked Co-Chair Parish if there is a wparticular project he
envi sions for Southeast Al aska should HB 166 pass.

REPRESENTATI VE PARI SH answered no, but he opined that [Juneau]
does benefit from sone of the finest nuseuns in the state and
everyone in the state should have simlar opportunities. He
noted that nuseuns throughout the state may benefit under HB
166. He pointed to the nunmerous letters of support in the
commttee packet and indicated two are from Juneau - one from
the [Juneau-Douglas] Gty Museum

REPRESENTATI VE SADDLER asked how the State Library, Archives &
Museum ( SLAM construction was financed.

CO- CHAI R PARI SH i ndi cated he did not know.
8:09: 27 AM

LISA WORL, Staff, Representative Justin Parish, Al aska State
Legi slature, on behalf of Representative Parish, prinme sponsor
of HB 166, offered her understanding that SLAM was financed
partially by nmeans of an appropriation through a program simlar
to that set up for the libraries by the Departnment of Conmerce,
Community & Econom ¢ Devel opnent ( DCCED) . She noted that the
director of the D vision of Comunity and Regional Affairs,
Kat heri ne El demar, was avail able via tel econference.

HOUSE CRA COW TTEE -4- March 21, 2017



REPRESENTATI VE SADDLER said he would appreciate a source of
reliable information as to how that facility was constructed.

8:10: 38 AM

REPRESENTATI VE SADDLER asked what other funding nechanisns the
bill sponsor would envision regarding the 50 percent match under
HB 166.

CO-CHAIR PARISH answered he imagines there would Dbe:
applications to large philanthropic organizations, such as the
Rasnmussen Foundation; concerned community groups raising funds
"by hook or by crook"; and a good nunber of corporate sponsors.
He said, "There are no few individuals and organizations who
recogni ze the bounty that nuseuns can have to our conmunities
and are willing to put their noney where their nouth is.”

REPRESENTATI VE SADDLER asked if Co-Chair Parish envisions that
the matches would have to be private or could be from nunicipa
fund sources.

CO CHAIR PARI SH answered that he inagines people attenpting to
build a nuseum would accept noney from any source willing to
provide it, including public sources.

8:12: 04 AM

CO CHAI R FANSLER opened public testinmny on HB 166

8:.12:32 AM

PATRI CIl A RELAY, Executive Director, Valdez Miseum & Historical
Archives, stated that she is the <co-chair of an advocacy
committee for Miseuns Alaska [a statew de nmuseum associ ation]

but is speaking today on behalf of the Valdez Miseum &
Hi storical Archives in support of HB 166. She paraphrased her

witten testinony, [included in the conmttee packet], as
fol |l ows:

Museunrs are facing critical infrastructure issues

t hroughout the state. Research shows that al nost half

of all nuseuns in the state are either currently

involved in a construction ... project or will be in

the next five years. That's pretty incredible. Thi s

bill provides the structure for establishing a

systematic approach to prioritizing museum capital

HOUSE CRA COW TTEE - 5- March 21, 2017



project ... funding requests ... [in] the state.
Museunms and cultural organizations in Alaska are a
critical part of our educat i onal and econom c
infrastructure, spurring tourism and partnering [w th]
schools to teach the |ocal curricul um They
contribute to our econony and well being by enploying
over 260 Al askans statew de. We spend over ... $23.5
mllion annually in the state; we host over 650,000
visitors annually; and serve over 36,000 schoo
children annually .... In Valdez, ... we spend over
$1.3 million annually in our local comunity; we host
over 20,000 visitors annually; and in a snal
community of less than 4,000, we serve over 3,000
school children annually.

Despite this vital role of nmuseuns, our facilities and

collections ... are at risk through decreasing
federal, local, and charitable giving. As collections
grow and visitation increases, the pressure ... [on]

our aging infrastructure nust be managed. The Val dez
Museum [& Historical Archive] is no stranger to this
dilenma. We've acconplished a ot within the |ast few

years: incorporating [a] successful expanded range of
public pr ogr amm ng; maj or upgr ades to sever al
exhibits; we've increased visitation; ... and [the
museum has] raised ... [its] standards of collections
managenent . Despite t hese achi evenent s, our
institution is now at a point in which its progress is
bei ng hanpered by limtations of space. ... |In order
to mai ntai n and i nprove our st andar ds of

professionalism and to preserve our vision for the
future, our organization needs to nove away from our
current environnent of shared-purpose space and nobve
towards a facility [wth] dedi cated ... space
[ designed] for single use functionality. At this
point, we've got «collections stored at Dbaseball
fields; we've got collections stored in tents; and
this environment is not suitable for rare artifacts
that tell the Al aska story.

Now, at the core of our mssion is education. Over
the years we've had nunerous teachers share their
gratitude for how the Valdez Miseum [& Historical

Archives] supports their work. Recently, Sheri Beck,
a fourth-grade teacher with the Valdez City Schools
shared with our nuseum educator: "I just returned

from a National Social Studies convention in New

HOUSE CRA COW TTEE - 6- March 21, 2017



Ol eans. | thought of you so many tinmes and w shed

[we] could be brainstormng side by side. | was
al so rem nded how fortunate we are in Valdez and in ny
partnership with you to have a |ocal nuseum avail abl e
for help and support. Thank you. Your recent |esson
with my students using artifacts and primary sources
was such a wonderful exanple of what we heard at the
conference as stellar teaching."

So, wthout proper <care and housing of our
museum s collections and artifacts, we ... won't be
able to continue our robust education program | urge
this commttee to speak up for all Al aska mnuseuns;
we're just one exanpl e.

M5. RELAY concluded her testinmony by thanking the conmttee for
its time, consideration, and service to Al aska, and she urged
its menbers to pass HB 166.

8:17: 37 AM

REPRESENTATI VE SADDLER asked Ms. Relay how the Val dez Museum &
Hi storical Archives construction and operation were and are
f unded.

M5. RELAY answered that the Valdez Miuseum & Hi storical Archives
operates as a 501(c)(3) nonprofit organization. She said the
organi zation fornmerly operated as a departnent of the Cty of
Valdez but in 1997 switched to a public, private partnership.
Currently, the Gty of Valdez supports the Valdez Mseum &
Hi storical Archives through a community service organization
grant that 1is 60-65 percent of the organization's annual
operating budget. She said the onus is on the nonprofit to
rai se the remai ni ng 35-40 percent through fundraising efforts.

M5. RELAY stated that it is the mssion of the Valdez Miseum &
Hi storical Archives to preserve, present, and interpret the
heritage and culture of not only Valdez, but the Copper River
Basin and Prince WIlliam Sound. It serves the entire Valdez and
Cordova U.S. Census area and does outreach prograns throughout
t he region. She reported that the Valdez Miseum & Historica

Archives has over 75,000 rare objects and artifacts. She
of fered exanples. M. Relay said the Valdez Museum & Hi storica

Archives tells the story of its collections through exhibits and
educational and public prograns; it has approximately 11,000
square feet of permanent exhibit space and tenporary exhibit
space [for paintings], which is funded primarily wth generous

HOUSE CRA COW TTEE -7- March 21, 2017



support from the Alaska State Council on the Arts (ASCA). She
said the Valdez Miseum & Historical Archives has a robust
education departnent, wth a nuseum educator that brings
artifacts to students and hosts groups of students at the nmuseum
on a regular basis. She said honmeschool ed children in Val dez
consider the nuseum their live history classroom She said the
public prograns are nultigenerational and bring viewers in year
round.

REPRESENTATI VE SADDLER asked if the Valdez Miseum & Historica
Archives would have plans for capital projects, for which the
state, under HB 166, would pick up half the cost.

M5. RELAY responded that the Val dez Museum & Hi storical Archives
has conpleted a naster interpretive plan, which she described as
a pre-planning docunment that assesses the current situation and
considers options to expand, renovate, or build new She said
the Valdez Miseum & Historical Archives currently has two
facilities. The nost cherished exhibit, "Remenbering dd
Val dez," is housed in old Arny Corps of Engineers' warehouse
built in 1967. She explained that follow ng the Earthquake of
1964, Val dez was noved four mles, and "Renenbering O d Val dez"
is a scale nodel of the original town site. The warehouse is
going to be razed and a sustainable solution is to nerge the
museunmt s two |ocations into one facility. She said hopefully in

the next five to ten years this work will be feasible.
IVS. RELAY, in response to followup questions, said the
estimated cost of the plans is between $28 and $35 million. She

added that a |andowner has offered land and other city-owned
parcels of |land are al so being considered. She said the Val dez
Museum & Historical Archives receives over 20,000 visitors each
year, the mpjority of them between Menorial Day and Labor Day,
and approximately 80 percent of visitors conme from outside
Val dez. There is a year-round effort nade. Currently, the
Val dez Museum & Historical Archives is preparing for its annua

student art show, sponsored by Al yeska Pipeline Service Conpany
and ASCA. She said this exhibit takes six nonths of planning

She said her staff conprises: a full-time curator of
collections and exhibits and a full-time curator of education
and public prograns. Funds from grants are wused for big
proj ects. She offered exanples. She said the mpjority of the
capital expense goes to housing of the collection, including
heating, electricity, staff pay, and security, at a cost of
approximately $90,000 in utilities annually.

8:29: 28 AM

HOUSE CRA COW TTEE - 8- March 21, 2017



REPRESENTATI VE DRUMMOND asked if the Valdez Miuseum & Historica
Archi ves charges adm ssi on

M5. RELAY answered yes. She related that currently support from
the City of Valdez through a comunity service organizational
grant covers payroll and a mnor part of wutilities, and the
museum would not be able to function wthout the adm ssion
charged, which is: $8 general, $6 seniors and mlitary, and
free to children and nenbers. In response to a followup
guestion, she estimated that general adm ssion, nuseum servi ces,
and public programm ng fees conbi ned equal approxi mately $60, 000
i n annual incone.

8:32:18 AM

REPRESENTATI VE SADDLER said he would like to know what the
state's role has been in capital funding of nuseuns, archives
libraries, and preservation societies.

8:32:31 AM

KATHERI NE ELDEMAR, Director, Division of Community and Regi ona
Affairs (DCRA), Departnment of Conmerce, Conmmunity & Econom c
Devel opnent (DCCED), stated that [HB 166] is nodeled after "the
library grant statute.” She nentioned designated |egislative
grants that get funded through choices made by the |egislature.
She said the system "under this statute" would be slightly
different: The division would receive applications, score them
and allocate the resources based on the score, but the
| egi sl ature would appropriate the funds. M. El demar conti nued:
"Like | said, this is nodeled after the library program but it
still remains unfunded, so we don't have anything to report as
how t hat actual program... wll, in fact, work."

REPRESENTATI VE SADDLER asked Ms. Eldemar to confirm she was
saying that it is the library grant program that is currently
unf unded.

M5. ELDEMAR answered that is correct. She said the division
accepted applications and scored them and it is holding on to
t hose applications. She directed attention to |anguage in HB
166, on page 1, lines 10-11, which read: "The departnment may
not accept the application for a grant under this section unless
the legislature makes an appropriation for the grant program”
She said this |anguage would prevent grantees from doing a | ot
of work until after the |egislature has nmade the appropriation.

HOUSE CRA COW TTEE - 9- March 21, 2017



REPRESENTATI VE SADDLER asked, "Has there ever been grant funding
through the library grant progranf”

V5. ELDEMAR answer ed no.

REPRESENTATI VE SADDLER surm sed, "And this program for the
nmuseuns i s nodeled after the library grant program?”

MS. ELDEMAR answered that is correct.

REPRESENTATI VE SADDLER asked what the state's role has been in
t he past for construction funding for libraries and nuseuns.

M5. ELDEMAR said she could research for an answer by | ooking
t hrough former designated |egislative grants.

REPRESENTATI VE SADDLER said that would be hel pful, because the
proposed |egislation would establish a new program of public
support for nmuseuns at 50 percent of the cost, and he is trying
to find out what the precedent has been. He offered his
understanding that Ms. Eldemar was saying it is primarily, if
not excl usively, through [designated] |egislative grants.

M5. ELDEMAR responded that that is her understanding.
8:36: 39 AM
JANE LI NDSEY, Menber, Miseuns Al aska; Director, Juneau-Dougl as

Cty Museum paraphrased her witten testinony [included in the
comm ttee packet], as follows:

Good norning, ny nane is Jane Lindsey, |I'm here today
as a nmenber of Museuns Al aska, a non-profit
association of statewide nmuseum professionals; [|'m

also the director of the Juneau-Douglas City Miseum
I'"d like to thank Representative Parish for sponsoring
HB 166, conpanion bill to SB 7, sponsored by Senator

St evens.

The need for this bill is denonstrated in a 2014
McDowel | survey for the Foraker G oup that studied the
needs of Alaskan nuseuns and capital planning. Thi s

information wunderscores that nobst of our Al askan
collections are in buildings never nmeant to be
museuns. Three-quarters of the respondents of the
survey identified significant capital i mpr ovenent

HOUSE CRA COW TTEE -10- March 21, 2017



needs within the next five years: Exhi bition space
expansion or inprovenent; increase in facility size;
col l ections st or age expansi on; and security
i nprovenents are the top priorities |isted.

Bui | di ng expansi ons and new construction are
conplicated projects that take years of planning and
fundr ai si ng. Qutlined in the nuseum profiles in the
McDowel | survey, nuseum staff and personnel are tasked
with raising funds at least 10 tinmes larger than a
museunmi s annual budget. These ... sane folks are
working on collections care, exhi bits, progr ans,
education, and the regular business of caring for a
facility and generating revenue to operate.

The core m ssion of what we do is our collections; our
work entails preserving objects, phot os, [ and]
docunents of the history of Alaska, and we care for
these in perpetuity, and we find neaningful ways to
give them back to the public through exhibits,
education, and research opportunities.

HB 166 is a zero fiscal note bill for capital
i nprovenent projects if and when funding becones
avai | abl e. Model ed after the successful library
construction grant program 50 percent of proposed
costs to build, expand, or renovate existing
facilities wll encourage nuseuns to assess nheeds
within their buildings - such as sustainable energy
initiatives for speci al i zed envi ronment s, whi ch
museuns need - and devel op achi evabl e goals. It can

help them create financial partnerships with |ocal,
non-profit, state, and federal granting agencies,
which is what we regularly work wth.

Governor Wal ker’s proclamation that 2017 is a
“Year of History and Heritage” ... [recognizing] the
One Hundred and Fiftieth anniversary of Russia ceding
its Alaskan interests to the United States
encourages us "to study, teach, reflect upon our past,
and apply its lessons to a brighter, nore inclusive
future." HB 166 hel ps us preserve Al askan heritage so
that we may continue to study, teach, and reflect.

Thank you for your time and the work you do on behalf
of the state of Al aska and our fellow Al askans.

HOUSE CRA COW TTEE -11- March 21, 2017



8:40: 06 AM

REPRESENTATI VE SADDLER noted that M. Lindsey had said HB 166 is
nodel ed after the successful library grant program while M.
Relay had said there have been no l|egislative grants through
t hat program He asked Ms. Lindsey if she could describe the
operation of the library grant program and explain why she
called it successful.

M5. LINDSEY answered that while she does not know the details of
the program she does know it resulted in the construction of
13-20 libraries in Alaska, all of which have come up with 50
percent matching grants. She offered her wunderstanding that
these libraries worked as a consortium She said her
understanding - from speaking with people at DCCED and those
associated with the libraries that have received the funding -
is that it takes many years to becone "shovel ready," which is
the point a library nust be at in order to apply for the grant.
She said the libraries have gone through the process of ensuring
there is conmunity consensus, the necessary noney is there, that
they can operate, building the community resources that are
wi dely used, and being energy efficient. Ms. Lindsey pointed
out that Ms. Relay pays $90 million annually and operates from
an antiquated building, so certainly it takes nobre noney to
preserve the environnment and the collections in it, but when Ms.
Relay is able to afford an expansion, wth inprovenents nmade

she will realize energy efficiency.

REPRESENTATI VE SADDLER asked Ms. Lindsey if she knows how the
SLAM was funded.

M5. LINDSEY offered her understanding that because the SLAM was
funded through the legislature, the noney is from the operating
budget rather than the capital budget; therefore, the SLAM woul d
not be eligible for any noney that becane available under HB
166.

REPRESENTATI VE SADDLER tal ked about t he constitutiona
obligation of state to provide public education and pay 70-100
percent of the capital costs of building schools and associ ated
libraries. He asked why the state should pay half the cost of
t he nuseuns in Al aska.

IVS. LI NDSEY answered that nuseuns are charged wth the

responsibility of caring for public trust heritage collections,
which are open to the public and owned by and accessible to

HOUSE CRA COW TTEE -12- March 21, 2017



everyone. She noted that sonme noney cones from adm ssions, but
reenphasi zed the charge given to nuseuns, and she stated her
belief that that is a worthy goal for [the benefit of] "the
state of Al aska and every human being."

REPRESENTATI VE SADDLER sai d he does not disagree.
8:44:01 AM

REPRESENTATI VE DRUVMWWOND asked if the Juneau-Douglas Cty Miseum
charges adm ssi on

MS. LINDSEY answered yes: $6 for adults; $5 for seniors; free
to children 13 and under; and that charge goes down by $1 in the
wi nter, when the nuseum finds comrunity sponsors. She said the
museum encourages people to use its facility and its education
prograns are free, so dollars in revenues do not necessarily
mat ch the services given. She said the Juneau-Douglas City
Museum brings in about $75,000 annually in adm ssions and public
prograns where it is generating revenue; it has a budget of
about $425,000; but many of its prograns are free to the public.

8:45: 43 AM
CO CHAI R FANSLER opened public testinmony on HB 166
8:46: 19 AM

EVA MALVICH, Director/Curator, Yupiit Piciryarait Mseum said
the nmuseum is run by the Association of Village Counci
Presidents; it is located wwthin the Yupiit Piciryarait Cultura
Center, which is owned and operated by the Kuskokwi m canpus of
the University of Al aska. Ms. Malvich related that the Yupiit
Piciryarait Museumis the only one in the region and owns over
8,000 objects relating to the Yup'ik people, including books,
audio recordings, paper archives, photos, videos, fine art
obj ects, and objects related to natural history. She said there
are tools the Yupik forefathers used to live off the land and
water that are still vital today in teaching children and giving
them a sense of their own identity. She stated, "W have to
tell our own story, according to our own world view, and that is
sonet hi ng that cannot be underestimated.” She said HB 166 woul d
give the VYupiit Piciryarait Mseum a chance for needed
renovati on.

M5. MALVICH shared that the Yupiit Piciryarait Miseum needs a
new heating, ventilation, and air conditioning (HVAC) system to

HOUSE CRA COW TTEE -13- March 21, 2017



mai ntain humdity at levels consistent for the care of hides

skins, and ivory - all objects in danger of permanent danage
She said the current humdity control is hurting the collection,
and a new one will cost $125,000 to purchase and $80,000 a year

t o mai ntain.
MS. MALVI CH conti nued:

Qur museum is vital to educating our own people about
making clothing, tools, and art. W do not need an
outside expert to tell us who we are. W do not need
to travel to the Smithsonian down states to study our
own obj ects. By running a nmuseum and providing
education opportunities in our region, by our own
peopl e, we have the know edge and neans to sustain our
own Yup'ik culture.

M5. MALVI CH enphasized the inportance of keeping artifacts in
the region, not in Fairbanks or Juneau, which she said are too
far away. She said, "W need themcloser to hone so that we can
continue to teach and learn about our rich Yup'ik and Cup'ik
cul ture through studying our collection.” She said HB 166 woul d
hel p i mrensely by giving her organization the means by which to
secure funds for construction and renovation of nuseuns and
cultural centers.

8:50:15 AM

REPRESENTATI VE DRUVWWOND referred to Ms. Malvich's coment that
the center does not need to |leave Bethel to show its artifacts
to its people. She nentioned the Smthsonian's traveling
exhi bi ts. She said she has heard about collections being
returned to nuseuns after being borrowed by other countries,
states, and organizations "after decades of being mssing from

the state.” She asked, "If your museum was the subject of such
a collection, are there requirenents made by ... the returning
organi zation as to the condition of the facility before they
wWill return artifacts ... to a particular nuseunf”

8:51:26 AM

M5. MALVICH noted that the Rasnmussen Foundation |oans artifacts,
but is not likely to loan themto the Yupiit Piciryarait Miseum
because of the lack of sufficient HVAC that can maintain the
necessary humdity |evel of between 30 and 50 percent. She said
she does not bother to apply because of that one condition. She
related that the humdity in Bethel ranges from 1l percent in the

HOUSE CRA COW TTEE -14- March 21, 2017



winter to 50 percent in the sumrer; maintaining a range of 30-50
percent is a challenge; and the existing fluctuation is what
causes damage to the collection. In response to a followup
guestion, she said there is one piece that has already sustained
damage: a shaman's shawl that was found inside a coffin in
1971, and while in storage it split in half. She said the
museum woul d like to get it repaired, because it is the only one
of its kind in the world, but it would get damaged again w t hout
t he upgrade to the HVAC.

8:54:50 AM

KATHERI NE WRI NGSMUTH, testified in support of HB 166. She
shared that Alaska history is inportant to her. She said she
has: taught history at the Chugi ak-Eagle Ri ver canpus of the
University of Al aska Anchorage (UAA); served as president of the
Alaska Historical Society; and curated historical exhibits.
Furthernore, she currently organizes two |lecture series at a
l[ibrary in Muntain View and at Chugiak Hi gh School. MVs.
Wingsnuth tal ked about the power of historical w sdom and how a
society can erode if history is not "shared, understood, and

valued by everyone."” She said Al aska has nore than 60 nuseuns
that provide cultural tourism and educational prograns to
visitors. She said these nuseuns are caretakers of Alaska's

culture and major contributors to the state's econony.

M5. WRINGSMJUTH related that as a professor of Al aska history,
the museum assignnents she gives her students afford them the
opportunity to conduct original research at the undergraduate
| evel . She said only a handful of people have the opportunity
to take Alaska history in school, and she enphasized that
museuns are one of the few places where residents, as well as
the many visitors to the state can |earn about Al aska. Far too
many of those nuseuns face deterioration and are in critical
need of renovation, which M. Wingsnmuth characterized as a
threat to Alaska's history as well as to its future. She stated
her belief that "nuseuns help to «cultivate Alaska' s next
generation.” She enphasized there is a need for visionaries.
She quoted forner Governor Walter J. Hi ckel as having said,
"There is no vision, no hope, no future, no agenda for Al aska,
if your only ideology, if your only philosophy, if your only
cause is to cut the budget." She concluded, "As we face
unprecedented financial challenges, we cannot forget from where
we cane. We nust renmenber the voice of the people and foster
our newest, youngest visionaries." She expressed thanks for
support of HB 166 as a neans to invest in Al aska' s future.

HOUSE CRA COW TTEE - 15- March 21, 2017



8:58: 23 AM

REPRESENTATI VE SADDLER said he hears frequently that nuseuns are
an inportant cultural repository and educational tool. He asked
Ms. Wingsnuth if she thinks it would be appropriate for the
state to fund nuseuns as part of Al aska's educational m ssion.

M5. WRI NGSMUTH answer ed, "Absolutely."

REPRESENTATI VE SADDLER asked if she thinks nuseuns should share
in the funding stream that the public school system receives
fromthe state.

M5. WRI NGSMUTH answered that is a difficult question to answer
She clarified that while she recognizes the value and reciprocal
nature of [schools] and nuseuns, she cannot speak to the
financial side. Notwithstanding that, she said she can envision
the two working together. She said there are so nmany new
residents comng to Alaska who do not have the opportunity to
learn Alaska's history and becone dependent on "these popul ar
narratives that may not even have much reality in the past,"”
which she said 1is dangerous. She talked about aligned
partnerships of historical societies, K-12, university systens,
and nuseuns working toward a common purpose, but said she does
not see that happening right now, because "we're all kind of
fighting over the small pot of noney that does exist." She said
ot her states, for exanple, M nnesota, have adopted this nodel of
cooper ati on.

REPRESENTATI VE SADDLER noted that Chugiak has a strong
hi storical society.

M5. WRI NGSMUTH concurred and related that efforts are being nmade
to draw visitors in to | earn about the area's rich history.

9:02: 34 AM

LI NDA LUCKY, Vol unteer Docent, Anchorage Miseum testified in
support of HB 166. She said the matching grant program would
help build, renovate, expand, and preserve Alaska collections
that are held in the public trust and support creative vision of
the institution. She said exhibition space, increase in
facility size, collection storage expansion, and security
i nprovenent are |isted anong the top priorities of the proposed
| egi sl ati on. She said, "I Ilike that the program takes the
politics out of applying for a grant."” She opined that support

HOUSE CRA COW TTEE -16- March 21, 2017



of HB 166 would be an investnent in the well-being of
conmuni ti es.

M5. LUCKY stated that the Anchorage Miseum connects people
through its progranms; through workshops, new experiences,
exhi bitions, and events; it expands people's views of the world.
She said just after the museunis |atest expansion, it opened a
"Star Wars" exhibit that was "a perfect segue between the old
and the new. " The exhibit brought in parents, children, Star
Wars fans, and people who had never been to a museum before, and
there were many hands-on displays to challenge the visitors'

i magi nati ons. She offered further details. She quoted the
director of the Anchorage Miuseum Julie Decker, as saying, "W
t hi nk nmuseuns matter nore now than ever before. |In an age where

everything is on line, visitation rates to mnuseuns around the
world are rising. Miseuns are not storehouses of the past; they
are an active record of where we cone from who we are, and
where we are going. Museuns activate curiosity about the world
in which we see and cone to know ourselves as part of a
conti nuum of shared human identity.” Ms. Lucky wurged the
commttee to support HB 166.

9: 05: 30 AM

M5. LUCKY, 1in response to a question from Representative
Saddl er, surmised that the funding for the original construction
and the expansion of the Anchorage Miseum was from t he Rasnussen
Foundat i on.

9:06: 17 AM

STEPHEN LUNDEEN, Menber, Board of Directors, Pioneer Ar Miseum
identified critical infrastructure needs of the nuseum He
i ndicated that the nuseum | acks bathroom facilities and depends
on a neighboring facility to be open, and HB 166 would "broaden
potential funding avenues" to take care of such needs. He
related that another need is for a restoration facility for the
proper preservation, restoration, and, in sone cases, assenbly
of the nmuseumis historical aircraft. For exanple, he said the
museum owns a 1929 Swallow - one of only 200 built - that needs
to be assenbled. M. Lundeen stated that the Pioneer Air Miseum
has been operating on a self-sustaining basis, and he indicated
that the nuseum can continue on its own after it receives state
funding. He encouraged support for HB 166.

9:09:40 AM

HOUSE CRA COW TTEE -17- March 21, 2017



PETE HAGGLAND, Curator, Pioneer Ar Miseum testified that the
museum is housed in a building that was never designed to be a
museum and | acks space for displays, restoration, and archives.
He said the archiving and catal oguing takes place with state
grants. He related that the nuseumis open from Menorial Day to
Labor Day. He echoed M. Lundeen's comrents regarding the need
for restroons, adding that there are not even facilities for the
hired help. M. Haggland said the Pioneer Air Miseum charges an
entrance fee to the public, but not to school children or "the
di sadvantaged.” He said the nuseum receives 9,000 paid visitors
per year, not counting school children and runs classes for the
school district. He said HB 166 has the potential to help the
museum take care of sonme of its dire needs. He stated support
for HB 166, and he opined that the history of all of Al aska
needs to be preserved and protected for people to see.

9:13:18 AM

JAMES LOUNSBURY testified that he lives in Alaska in the
sumertinme and, after receiving a gift of |land, converted a cook
house into a nuseum He said he does not charge an entry fee
He related that this year will be the second he has hosted the
Pi oneers of Al aska, Igloo Nunmber 8, from Fairbanks, Al aska. He
stated support of the [Pioneer Air] Mseum in Fairbanks. He
shared that his whole famly is in aviation; both his father and
not her flew planes; and his nother was the first female to solo
in Fairbanks. M. Lounsbury remarked on the anple storage space
at the Alaska Aviation Heritage Miseum in Anchorage, Al aska,
and said it would be great if Fairbanks could "get a little bit

of that stuff" in order to have room for the planes stored
t here. He nmentioned that he had played music at an opening of
an air nuseum | ast year. M. Lounsbury concluded by revealing

that he is a fourth-generation Al askan.
9:15: 55 AM

LAURIE STUART  MORROW Executive Director, Pratt Museum
testified in support of HB 166. She said museuns fill many
roles: drawng in tourists in the sumrer and bol stering support
for local, small businesses; and serving as gathering place for
comunity discussion in the wnter. She said nuseuns provide
venues for artists and scientists to "share their discoveries
and epi phanies for the benefit of the community."

M5. STUART MORROW said nuseuns such as the Pratt are structured

as nonprofit organizations that share their mssion to the
comunity, and because their focus is on outreach and

HOUSE CRA COW TTEE - 18- March 21, 2017



accessibility, they don't wusually have noney Ileft over for
renovati on or new construction. She said at |east 36 nmuseuns in
Al aska, including the Pratt Miseum have identified significant
capital inprovenent needs, which neans that over 30 conmunities
in the state are concerned about being able to provide adequate
services for the collections provided to them by the public.

M5. STUART MORROW remarked that as a centennial building, the
current structure housing the Pratt Museum is 50 years old, and
despite two add-on renovations over those 50 years, it |lacks the
space necessary to "adequately care for cultural, historical,
and natural history collections from one generation to the

next." She said the nuseum has been working on a cultural
canpaign for over 10 years, with the hope of creating a building
that will protect the heritage and provide the space necessary

for a comunity to gather and "co-create nore resilient
community rel ationships."”

M5. STUART MORROW said the [proposed] nmuseum construction grant
program would provide a nechanism for nuseuns in Al aska that
often lack tax dollars or a for-profit structure to request
support in continuing to be caretakers of "comunities' val ued
hi story, culture, and ongoing dial ogue." She concl uded, "For
this reason, we request passage of HB 166."

9:18:46 AM

CO CHAIR FANSLER, after ascertaining that there was no one else
who wi shed to testify, closed public testinony on HB 166.

9:19: 02 AM

REPRESENTATI VE WESTLAKE said he has gone to the Pratt Miuseum and
the museumin Valdez. He said [nuseuns] bring "what's inportant

to that area.”" He characterized HB 166 as a worthy cause. He
credited Representative Saddler as having said that "it is part
of education.” He stated that as a person gets older, hel/she
realizes "just how inportant this is." He expressed delight

that the proposed legislation is before the commttee.
9:19: 52 AM

REPRESENTATI VE TALERI CO said he thinks [HB 166] is great. He
remarked that it could be a while before the state [has the
financial neans] to be able to provide the noney for an
appropriation. In response to a concern he said was expressed
to himvia e-mail, he clarified on the record that under Title

HOUSE CRA COW TTEE -19- March 21, 2017



14, which is referenced in HB 166, nuseuns are defined as
"organi zed and permanent public institutions”; therefore, any
funds appropriated could not be used for private collections.

9:20: 52 AM

REPRESENTATI VE DRUMMOND said as testinony reflected, there are
collections that are in danger. She opined that at sone point
the legislature wll have to figure out how to nake the
appropri ations. In the mnmeantime, she said she thinks the

| egi sl ature needs to allow nuseuns around the state to "get this
structure in place" and begin to nove forward, so that when
fundi ng does becone available, "they can begin to do the work."
She expressed support of HB 166.

[HB 166 was hel d over.]

9:21: 35 AM

CO CHAIR PARI SH noted that as he spoke, the Al aska Association
of Student Governnents was gathered at the Juneau-Douglas City
Museum and he urged adjournnment so nenbers could attend the
final portion and lend their support for work of the student
government officials.

9:22: 57 AM

ADJ OURNMENT

There being no further business before the conmttee, the House
Community and Regional Affairs Standing Commttee neeting was
adj ourned at 9:23 a.m

HOUSE CRA COW TTEE - 20- March 21, 2017



